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This civil action has been brought before the Court again on
noti on of Defendants, Beard M I | er Conmpany, LLP and Steven D
Orndorf to dismss Plaintiffs’ Conplaint. For the reasons set
forth below, the notion shall be granted in part and denied in

part.



Hi story of the Case

This case has its origins in an inconme tax avoi dance
strategy which the defendants, allegedly acting in concert,
mar keted and sold to the plaintiffs. Despite having know edge of
two IRS notices in 1999 and 2000 which inforned tax attorneys and
accountants across the country of the illegality of strategies
such as the one at issue here involving the purchase of digital
options on foreign currency, Defendants all egedly neverthel ess
continued to aggressively market and sell the strategy as a
legitimate tax shelter, charging Plaintiffs fees of between 5 Y%
and 9 Woof the client’s desired tax savings. Unbeknownst to
Plaintiffs, Defendants also failed to register the strategy as a
tax shelter with the IRS and failed to informthemthat the |egal
opinion letters upon which Plaintiffs were relying were not
i ndependent opinions but were instead drafted by the sanme | aw
firmthat hel ped develop the strategy in the first place.
Def endants al so did not advise Plaintiffs of the |RS Tax Amesty
Program under which taxpayers who voluntarily disclosed their
participation in such an illegal strategy could avoid any
penal ti es for underpaynent of taxes.

As a result of their participation in the defendants’
illegal tax strategy, Plaintiffs incurred significant penalties

and interest to the RS along with having to pay back taxes, and



additional |egal and accounting advisory fees. They commenced
this suit on July 28, 2004 under the theories of Cvil RICO 18
U S. C. 881962(c) and (d), breach of contract, unjust enrichnent,
breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing, breach of
fiduciary duty, fraud, negligent m srepresentation, malpractice,
civil conspiracy and for declaratory judgnent. Def endants Beard
Ml 1ler Conpany, LLP (“Beard MIler”) and Steven O ndorf
(“Orndorf”), now nove to dismss the conplaint against themin
its entirety pursuant to Fed. R CGv.P. 12(b)(6).

St andards Governi ng Motions to Disnmiss

In considering notions to dismss pursuant to Fed. R Cv.P.
12(b)(6), district courts nust “accept as true the factual
all egations in the conplaint and all reasonable inferences that

can be drawn therefrom” Allah v. Seiverling, 229 F.3d 220, 223

(3d Cir. 2000)(internal quotations omtted). See Also: Ford v.

Schering-Pl ough Corp., 145 F. 3d 601, 604 (3d Gr. 1998). A

nmotion to dismss may only be granted where the allegations fai

to state any clai mupon which relief my be granted. See, Mrse

v. Lower Merion School District, 132 F.3d 902, 906 (3d Gr.

1997). The inquiry is not whether plaintiffs will ultimtely
prevail in a trial on the nerits, but whether they should be
af forded an opportunity to offer evidence in support of their

cl ai ms. In re Rockefeller Center Properties, Inc., 311 F.3d 198,

215 (3d Cr. 2002). Dismssal is warranted only “if it is



certain that no relief can be granted under any set of facts

whi ch could be proved.” Klein v. General Nutrition Conpanies,

Inc., 186 F.3d 338, 342 (3d Gr. 1999)(internal quotations
omtted). It should be noted that courts are not required to
credit bald assertions or |legal conclusions inproperly alleged in
the conplaint and | egal conclusions draped in the guise of

factual allegations may not benefit fromthe presunption of

truthfulness. |In re Rockefeller, 311 F.3d at 216. A court may,

however, | ook beyond the conplaint to extrinsic docunents when
the plaintiff’s clainms are based on those docunents. GSC

Partners, CDO Fund v. Washington, 368 F.3d 228, 236 (3d G

2004); In re Burlington Coat Factory Securities Litigation, 114

F.3d 1410, 1426. See Also, Angstadt v. M dd-Wst School

District, 377 F.3d 338, 342 (3d Cir. 2004).

Di scussi on

A. Plaintiffs’ R CO O ains

Def endants first nmove to dismss the plaintiff’s clains
under the Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations Act, 18
U S.C. 881962(c) and (d) on the grounds that the conplaint fails
to sufficiently allege such clains and that the clains are barred
by Section 107 of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act,

(“PSLRA”), which amended 18 U.S.C. §1964(c).*

! Plaintiffs’ have al so endeavored to state a third RICO claimfor
“violations of 18 U.S.C. 82 by seeking to and ai ding and abetting a schene to
violate 18 U S.C. 81962(c).” (Complaint, p. 67) However, as we noted in our

4



Specifically, Section 1962(c) states:

It shall be unlawful for any person? enpl oyed or associ ated
with any enterprise engaged in, or the activities of which
affect, interstate or foreign comerce, to conduct or
participate, directly or indirectly, in the conduct of such
enterprise’s affairs through a pattern of racketeering
activity or collection of unlawful debt.

Section 1962(d) provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person to conspire to violate

any of the provisions of subsection (a), (b) or (c) of this

secti on.

Finally, under Section 1964(c), (as anended by Section 107
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act, Pub.L. No. 104-
67, 109 Stat. 737 (1995)) which provides for civil renedies for

RI CO vi ol ati ons,

Menor andum and Order in this case issued on February 3, 2005, the U S. Court
of Appeals for the Third Crcuit has held that a private cause of action for

ai ding and abetting a RICO violation does not |lie under 18 U S.C. 82 or 8§1964.
See, Pennsyl vania Association of Edwards Heirs v. Ri ghtenour, 235 F.3d 839,
843-844 (3d Cir. 2000); Rolo v. City Investing Co. Liquidating Trust, 155 F.3d
644, 657 (3d Cir. 1998). We therefore grant the noving defendants’ notion to
dism ss that claimat the outset.

2 Under the “Definitions” given in 18 U.S.C. §1961

As used in this chapter—

(3) “person” includes any individual or entity capable of holding a
| egal or beneficial interest in property;

(4) “enterprise” includes any individual, partnership, corporation,
associ ation, or other legal entity, and any union or group of
i ndi vidual s associated in fact although not a legal entity;

(5) “pattern of racketeering activity” requires at |east tw acts of
racketeering activity, one of which occurred after the effective date of
this chapter and the last of which occurred within ten years (excl uding
any period of inprisonnment) after the commi ssion of a prior act of
racketeering activity;



Any person injured in his business or property by reason of
a violation of section 1962 of this chapter may sue therefor
in any appropriate United States district court and shal
recover threefold the damages he sustains and the cost of
the suit, including a reasonable attorney’'s fee, except that
no person may rely upon any conduct that woul d have been
actionable as fraud in the purchase or sale of securities to
establish a viol ation of section 1962. The exception
contained in the precedi ng sentence does not apply to an
acti on agai nst any person that is crimnally convicted in
connection with the fraud, in which case the statute of
limtations shall start to run on the date on which the
convi ction becones final. (enphasis added).

Thus, 8107 operated to elimnate, as a predicate act for a
private cause of action under RI CO any conduct actionable as

fraud in the purchase or sale of securities. Mathews v. Kidder,

Peabody & Co., Inc., 161 F.3d 156, 157 (3d Cr. 1998). 1In

determ ni ng whether the alleged predicate acts are barred by this
section of the PSLRA, Courts should properly focus their analysis
on whet her the conduct pled as the predicate offenses is
“actionable” as securities fraud-- not on whether the conduct is
“intrinsically connected to, and dependent upon” conduct

actionabl e as securities fraud. Bal d Eagl e Area School District

v. Keystone Financial, Inc., 189 F.3d 321, 330 (3d Gr. 1999).
As noted by the Commttee Conference Report acconpanying 8107,
t he amendnent was not intended nerely “to elimnate securities
fraud as a predicate offense in a civil RICO action,” but also to
prevent a plaintiff from “pleading other specified offenses, such
as mail or wire fraud, as predicate acts under Civil RICOif such

of fenses are based on conduct that woul d have been acti onabl e as



securities fraud.” Burton v. Ken-Crest Services, Inc., 127

F. Supp. 2d 673, 676 (E.D.Pa. 2001), quoting H R Conf. Rep. No.
104- 369, at 47.

Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15
U S C 878 (b) provides, in relevant part:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly,
by the use of any neans or instrunentality of interstate
commerce or of the mails, or of any facility of any national
securities exchange—

(b) to use or enploy, in connection with the purchase
or sale of any security registered on a national
securities exchange not so registered or any
securities-based swap agreenent (as defined in section
206B of the Gramm Leach-Bliley Act), any manipul ative
or deceptive device or contrivance in contravention of
such rules and regul ati ons as the Conm ssion may
prescri be as necessary or appropriate in the public
interest or for the protection of investors.

SEC Rul e 10b-5, 17 C.F.R 8240.10b-5 simlarly provides:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly or indirectly,
by the use of any neans or instrunentality of interstate
commerce, or of the mails or of any facility of any national
securities exchange,

(a) To enploy any device, schenme, or artifice to
def raud,

(b) To nake any untrue statenment of a material fact or
to omt to state a material fact necessary in order to
make the statenents nade, in the light of the

ci rcunst ances under which they were nmade, not

m sl eadi ng, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or course of

busi ness which operates or would operate as a fraud or
deceit upon any person, in connection with the purchase
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or sale of any security.
Thus, securities fraud is a schene to defraud, a m sl eadi ng
statenent, or an om ssion of a material fact in connection with

the purchase or sale of securities. Flood v. Makowski, Cv. A

No. 3:CV:03-1803, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 16957 (M D. Pa. Aug. 24,

2004), citing 15 U.S.C. 878)j(b) and Newton v. Merrill, Lynch,

Pierce, Fenner & Smth, Inc., 259 F.3d 154, 173 (3d Gr. 2001).

To state a valid claimfor a violation of securities fraud under
810b and Rule 10b-53% a plaintiff nust show that the defendant
(1) made a m sstatenent or an om ssion of a material fact (2)
with scienter (3) in connection with the purchase or the sale of
a security (4) upon which the plaintiff reasonably relied and (5)
that the plaintiff’s reliance was the proxi mate cause of his or

her injury. Inre lkon Ofice Solutions, Inc., 277 F.3d 658, 666

(3d Cr. 2002); Argent dassic Convertible Arbitrage Fund L.P. V.

Rite Aid Corp., 315 F.Supp.2d 666, 673-674 (E.D.Pa. 2004). It

shoul d be noted that the PSLRA' s exclusion of securities fraud as
a RICO predicate act applies regardl ess of whether a particular
plaintiff has standing to bring a civil action under 810b and

Rul e 10b-5. Gatz v. Ponsoldt, 297 F. Supp.2d 719, 731 (D.Del.

2003); Inre Ikon Ofice Solutions, Inc. Securities Litigation,

3  The scope of Rule 10b is coextensive with the coverage of §10b.
Securities and Exchange Conmission v. Zandford, 535 U. S. 813, 816, 122 S.Ct.
1899, 1900, 153 L.Ed.2d 1 (2002), n.1, citing United States v. O Hagan, 521
U S 642, 651, 117 S.Ct. 2199, 138 L.Ed.2d 724 (1997) and Ernst & Ernst v.
Hochfel der, 425 U.S. 185, 214, 96 S.C. 1375, 47 L.Ed.2d 668 (1976).
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86 F. Supp.2d 481, 486 (E.D.Pa. 2000).

It is generally recognized that anong Congress’ objectives
in passing the Securities and Exchange Act was “to insure honest
securities markets and thereby pronpote investor confidence” after
t he stock market crash of 1929. Zandford, 535 U. S. at 819, 122

S.C. at 1903, quoting U.S. v. O Hagan, 521 U. S. at 658. 1In so

doi ng, Congress sought “to substitute a phil osophy of ful
di scl osure for the phil osophy of caveat enptor and thus to
achi eve a high standard of business ethics in the securities

industry.” 1d., quoting Affiliated Ue Citizens of Utah v.

United States, 406 U. S. 128, 151, 92 S.Ct. 1456, 31 L.Ed.2d 741

(1972). To that end, Congress enacted a broad definition of
“security,” sufficient “to enconpass virtually any instrunent

that m ght be sold as an investnent.” Securities and Exchange

Comm ssion v. Edwards, 540 U.S. 389, 393, 124 S.Ct. 892, 896, 157

L. Ed. 2d 813, 819 (2004), quoting Reves v. Ernst & Young, 494 U. S

56, 61, 110 S.Ct. 945, 108 L.Ed.2d 47 (1990). Consequently, the
statute should be construed not technically and restrictively,
but flexibly to effectuate its renedi al purposes. Zandford, 535
US at 819. It is enough that the schene to defraud and the

sal e of securities* coincide. Zandford, 535 U. S. at 822, 122

4 Under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1933, 15 U.S.C. §77b(a),
the term*“security” means any note, stock, treasury stock, security
future, bond, debenture, evidence of indebtedness, certificate of
interest or participation in any profit-sharing agreenment, collateral-
trust certificate, preorganization certificate or subscription,
transferabl e share, investnment contract, voting-trust certificate,

9



S.Ct. 1904.
In this case, Myving Defendants do not assert that the
Plaintiffs’ foreign currency option trades constitute the

purchase or sale of securities or that the COBRA transaction®

certificate of deposit for a security, fractional undivided interest in
oil, gas, or other mineral rights, any put, call, straddle, option, or
privilege on any security, certificate of deposit, or group or index of
securities (including any interest therein or based on the val ue
thereof), or any put, call, straddle, option or privilege entered into
on a national securities exchange relating to foreign currency, or in
general, any interest or instrunent comonly known as a “security,” or
any certificate of interest or participation in, tenmporary or interim
certificate for, receipt for, guarantee of, or warrant or right to
subscribe to or purchase, any of the foregoing.

Simlarly, under the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934, 15
U S. C. §78c(a)(10),

The term “security” means any note, stock, treasury stock, security
future, bond debenture, certificate of interest or participation in any
profit-sharing agreement or in any oil, gas, or other mneral royalty or
| ease, any collateral-trust certificate, preorganization certificate or
subscription, transferable share, investnent contract, voting-trust
certificate, certificate of deposit for a security, any put, call, straddle,
option or privilege on any security, certificate of deposit, or group or index
of securities (including any interest therein or based on the val ue thereof)
or any put, call, straddle, option, or privilege entered into on a nationa
securities exchange relating to foreign currency, or in general, any
i nstrument, commonly known as a “security”; or any certificate of interest or
participation in, tenmporary or interimcertificate for, receipt for, or
warrant or right to subscribe to or purchase, any of the foregoing; but shal
not include currency or any note, draft, bill of exchange, or banker’s
acceptance which has a maturity at the tine of issuance of not exceedi ng nine
nmont hs, exclusive of days of grace, or any renewal thereof the maturity of
which is likewise limted

> Here, the steps of the COBRA strategy were as foll ows:

First, the Individual Plaintiffs would sell a short option and purchase a
long option in alnost identical ampbunts on a foreign currency with different
(but narrow) strike prices, each to expire in thirty (30) days. The cost of
the I ong option, though large, would be largely (although not entirely) offset
by the prem um earned on the sale of the short option. The Individua
Plaintiffs would forma single-nenber limted liability conpany (“LLC") for
t he purpose of purchasing the options; Second, the Individual Plaintiffs
(through the LLCs) would contribute their options to a general partnership
formed for the purpose of conducting the COBRA transactions. After 30 days,
the I ong and short options would expire either “in or out of the noney,”
resulting in a gain or |oss, depending upon the exchange rate between the U. S
dollar and the relevant foreign currency at the tinme; Third, the Individua
Plaintiffs would make a capital contribution consisting of cash or other
capital assets to the partnership; if cash was contributed it was sonetines
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constituted a securities transaction in and of itself.® Rather,
they contend that it was the fact that plaintiffs were required
to formand purchase shares in S Corporations in order to
participate in the COBRA strategy which gives rise to the PSLRA
bar. In making this argunent, Mvants rely upon the Suprene

Court’s holding in Landreth Tinber Co. v. Landreth, 471 U S. 681,

105 S.Ct. 2297, 85 L.Ed.2d 692 (1985) that the sale of stock in a
privately-held corporation was sufficient to garner the
protection of the securities |aws given that the definition of
“security” under the Securities and Exchange Acts is “quite
broad.”

VWhile it is true that the Court held in Landreth that a

si ngl e individual who purchased 100% of the stock in a privately-

used to purchase capital or ordinary assets (depending on whether a capital or
ordinary | oss was being “created”); Fourth, the Individual Plaintiffs would
contribute their interests in the partnership to an S Corporation, causing the
term nation of the partnership as a matter of law, and Fifth, the S
Corporation would sell the capital or ordinary assets contributed by the

I ndi vidual Plaintiffs. These assets would have an artificially inflated basis
and their sale would lead to a substantial unrealized short-termcapital |oss
and/ or ordinary loss. (Conmplaint, 182).

6 W note that the allegations in the conplaint in this case with
respect to the foreign currency transactions are very sinmlar to those in
Lehman Brothers Commercial Corp. v. Mnnetals International Non-Ferrous Metals
Tradi ng Conpany, 179 F. Supp.2d 118 (S.D.N. Y. 2000) and 179 F. Supp.2d 159
(2001) in that it appears that “no physical exchange of the underlying foreign
currencies took place in connection with the trading activity. The foreign
currency trades were placed and, at expiration-when the currency would
ot herwi se change hands—new positions were entered into that either rolled the
trades further into the future or offset themw th trades taking the opposite
position.” See, Lehman, 170 F. Supp.2d at 163. As observed by Judge Keenan in
that case, “[a]s such, these transactions resenble a contractual wager based
on novenents in specified foreign currency prices, without the rea
possibility of foreign-currency positions changing hands. Unlike with an
option, neither party here, for all intents and purposes had a right to take
possession of foreign currency.” 1d. Thus, the Lehman court found that the
forei gn exchange or FX transactions at issue did not fall within the meaning
of securities set forth in the 1933 and 1934 Securities and Exchange Acts.
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hel d corporation could state a claimunder the securities | aws
for fraud in the sale of the business, its holding was prem sed
upon the finding that the stock in question possessed all of the
characteristics traditionally associated with common stock.
Those characteristics are: (1) the right to receive dividends
contingent upon an apportionnment to profit; (2) negotiability;
(3) the ability to be pledged or hypothecated; (4) conferring of
voting rights in proportion to the nunber of shares owned; and
(5) the capacity to appreciate in value. Landreth, 471 U S. at

686, 105 S. . 2302, citing United Housing Foundation, Inc. V.

Forman, 421 U.S. 837, 95 S. . 2051, 44 L.Ed.2d 621 (1975).
G ven that all we know at this juncture in this case is that the
plaintiffs are alleged to have been the 100% shar ehol ders of
certain S Corporations which were capitalized by Plaintiffs’
contributions of their interests in general partnerships, we
cannot find that the S Corporation “stocks” at issue here
constitute “securities” wthin the neaning of the 1933 and 1934
Acts. Accordingly, we deny the defendants’ notion to dism ss on
the basis of this argunment at this tinme. Upon further
devel opment of the record, of course, Mving Defendants are free
to re-argue this point via notion for summary judgnent.

Movi ng Defendants alternatively assert that Plaintiffs’ R CO
cl ai rs agai nst them shoul d be di sm ssed because they do not

sufficiently allege that they participated in the operation and
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managenent of the purported enterprise, they do not plead the
al l eged predicate acts with the required degree of specificity,
and because they have not alleged the existence of a Rl CO
conspi racy under 81962(d).

To state a cause of action under Section 1962(c), a
plaintiff nmust at a mninmumallege (1) the conduct (2) of an
enterprise (3) through a pattern of racketeering activity or the

collection of an unlawful debt. Salinas v. U S., 522 U S. 52,

62, 118 S.Ct. 469, 476, 139 L.Ed.2d 352 (1997); HJ., Inc. v.

Nort hwestern Bell Tel ephone Co., 492 U S. 229, 232, 109 S. C

2893, 2897, 106 L.Ed.2d 195 (1989); Sedima, S.P.R L. v. Inrex

Co., Inc., 473 U. S. 479, 496, 105 S.Ct. 3275, 3285, 87 L.Ed.2d

346 (1985). To plead a clai munder 81962(d), the conplaint nust
contain allegations that (1) there was an agreenent to commt the
predi cate acts of fraud and, (2) that defendants had know edge
that those acts were part of a pattern of racketeering activity
conducted in such a way as to violate 81962(a), (b) or (c).

Stewart v. Associates Consuner Discount Co., 1 F.Supp.2d 469, 475

(E.D.Pa. 1998); Martin v. Brown, 758 F.Supp. 313, 319 (WD. Pa.

1990) .

In order to allege a RICO enterprise, the Third Crcuit has
identified three elenents: (1) that there be an ongoi ng
organi zation; (2) that the associates function as a conti nui ng

unit; and (3) that the enterprise is separate and apart fromthe
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pattern of activity in which it engages. Bonavitacola Electric

Contractor, Inc. v. Boro Developers, Inc., Cv. A No. 01-5508,

2003 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2190, at *10-11 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 12, 2003).

See Al so, Cedric Kushner Pronmotions, Ltd. v. King, 533 U S. 158,

161, 121 S. Ct. 2087, 2090, 150 L.Ed.2d 198 (2001) and Jaquar
Cars, Inc. v. Royal Oaks Mdtor Car Co., Inc., 46 F.3d 258, 269

(3d Cir. 1995).

Racketeering activity nmeans “any act which is indictable
under any of the followng provisions of title 18, United States
Code:...section 1341 (relating to nmail fraud), section 1344
(relating to wire fraud)...” 18 U S.C. 81961(1)(b). To plead a
pattern of racketeering activity, a plaintiff nust allege that a
defendant commtted at |east two acts of racketeering activity,

as part of a related and continuous pattern. Teti v. Towanencin

Township, Gv. A No. 96-Cv-5602, 2001 U. S. Dist. LEXI S 15600, at

*18 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 17, 2001), citing HJ., Inc., 492 U S at 237,

109 S.Ct. at 2899. A pattern is not fornmed by sporadic activity
and a person cannot be subjected to the sanctions of RICO sinply
for coomtting two widely separated and isol ated cri m nal

of fenses. Teti, 2001 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at *25, citing HJ, Inc.,

492 U. S. at 239, 109 S.Ct. At 2900. Stated otherw se, a
“pattern” of racketeering activity exists when predicate crim nal
acts are related and anount to or otherw se constitute a threat

of continued crimnal activity. Werther v. Rosen, Cv. A No.
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02- Cv-3589, 2002 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 22262, at *5 (E.D.Pa. Cct. 30,
2002).

Racketeering acts are said to be related if they have the
sane or simlar purposes, results, participants, victinms, or
met hods of conm ssion, or otherwise are interrelated by
di stingui shing characteristics and are not isolated events.

H. J. Inc., 492 U.S. at 240, 109 S. C. At 2901; Schroeder V.

Acceleration Life Insurance Co., 972 F.2d 41, 46 (3d Gr. 1992).

Continuity has been said to be both a closed and open-ended
concept referring either to a closed period of repeated conduct
or to past conduct which by its nature projects into the future

with a threat of repetition. HJ., Inc., 492 U S at 241-242,

109 S. . at 2902. Thus, a party alleging a RICO violation may
denonstrate continuity over a closed period by proving a series
of related predicates extending over a substantial period of tine
or by denonstrating that a threat of continuing crimnal activity

exists. 1d.; Hondes v. Castle, 937 F.2d 868, 872 (3d Cir. 1991).

Whet her the predicate acts constitute a threat of continued
racketeering activity depends on the specific facts of each case.

Tabas v. Tabas, 47 F.3d 1280, 1295 (3rd Gr. 1995). Indeed, with

respect to a “cl osed-ended schene,” the Third Crcuit has
devel oped a durational requirenent of at |east twelve nonths,
which tinme period is nmeasured between the first and | ast

predi cate acts alleged. Bonavitacola, 2003 U S. Dist. LEXIS at
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*27, citing Tabas, 47 F.3d at 1293 and Plater-Zyberk v. Abraham

Gv. A No. 97-3322, 1998 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1736, at *23-24

(E.D. Pa. Feb. 18, 1998). Wil e predicate acts extendi ng over a
few weeks or nonths and threatening no future crimnal conduct
thus do not satisfy the continuity requirenment, open-ended
continuity may be satisfied where it is shown that the predicates
are a regular way of conducting defendant’s ongoing legitinmate
busi ness or of conducting or participating in an ongoi ng and

legitimate RICO enterprise. HJ., Inc., 492 U S at 243, 109

S.Ct. at 2902; Tabas, at 1295. Finally, in determ ning whether a
pattern of racketeering activity has been established in a given
case, it is appropriate to consider: (1) the nunber of unlawful
acts; (2) the length of tinme over which the acts were conm tt ed;
(3) the simlarity of the acts; (4) the nunmber of victins; (5)
the nunber of perpetrators; and (6) the character of the unlaw ul

activity. Tabas, at 1292; Barticheck v. Fidelity Union

Bank/ First National State, 832 F.2d 36, 39 (3rd Cr. 1987). See

Al so: Bonavitacola, 2003 U S. Dist. LEXIS at *22.

Finally, “to conduct or participate directly or indirectly
in the conduct of an enterprise’'s affairs,” a defendant nust have
had sone part in directing those affairs and “one is not |iable
unl ess one has participated in the operation or managenent of the

enterprise itself.” Reves v. Ernst & Young, 507 U.S. 170, 113

S. . 1163, 1170, 1172, 122 L.Ed.2d 525 (1993).
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In reviewng the conplaint in this case in light of the
precedi ng standards, we find that it is adequate to state clains
under Sections 1962(c) and (d) against the Beard M| er
def endant s. | ndeed, according to the conplaint, there were in
essence two “enterprises” at work: (1) the “solicitation”
enterprise, which consisted of the Deutsche defendants, Jenkens &
G lchrist, the BDO Sei dnman defendants, the KPMG def endants and
“all other marketing participants (including without Iimtation,
the Beard M|l er defendants, WIkinson defendants and Wachovi a
def endants) and ot her persons and entities which solicited
persons to participate in the FX contracts offered by the
Deut sche Defendants for the all eged purpose of tax liability
reduction as set forth in the opinion letters offered by
Jenkens;” and (2) the “FX’ enterprise, which consisted of “al
defendants and all other persons or entities that participated in
any way in the inplenentation, sale and or devel opnent of FX
contracts sold for the all eged purpose of decreasing the tax
l[iability of any individual.” (Conplaint, 153). Beard M| er
and Steven O ndorf are alleged to have participated in the
solicitation and FX enterprises specifically by using their
know edge of the Heller plaintiffs’ finances and their positions
as the Heller plaintiffs’ longtinme accountants to introduce them
to the COBRA strategy, by setting up neetings and tel ephone

conference calls with Attorneys Daugerdas and Guerin of Jenkens &
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G lchrist and David Parse of Deutsche Bank and by hel ping to sel
the Hellers on the legality of the strategy. (Conplaint, {s 63,
69, 70). In addition to their purported roles in marketing
COBRA to the plaintiffs, the Beard MIler defendants are al so
all eged to have further participated in the FX enterprise by
preparing the 1999 and 2000 corporate and personal tax returns
for the Heller plaintiffs. W find these avernents clearly
suffice to allege direct participation in the RICO enterprises in
this case.

As to the predicate acts, the conplaint avers that “[f]or
t he purpose of executing and/or attenpting to execute their
transaction to defraud and to obtain noney by neans of false
pretenses, representations or prom ses the Defendants, in
violation of 18 U . S.C. 81341 [and] 18 U.S.C. 81343...placed in
post offices and/or in authorized repositories for mail matter
and things to be sent or delivered by the Postal Service and
received matter and things therefrom..” [and] “transmtted and
received by wire matter and things therefromincluding but not
limted to contracts, instructions, correspondence, opinion
letters, funds...tax returns, wire transfer and ot her
instructions... and others.” (Conplaint, {s 166-167, 170-171).
Plaintiffs allege that these mail and wire transmtted docunents
were false and/or fraudulent in that, inter alia, they

m srepresented and suppressed material facts which would have
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alerted Plaintiffs to the true likelihood (1) that the I RS woul d
not accept the tax treatnment of the COBRA transactions as
indicated in the opinion letters, (2) that the FX contracts would
not pay out, (3) that the Defendants retained virtually unlimted
di scretion to determ ne whether the FX contracts woul d pay out,
and (4) that the Jenkens’ opinion letters were truly not

i ndependent . (Conpl ai nt, 9172).

Finally, in paragraph 174, the plaintiffs specify various
letters, agreenents, invoices and e-mails which Defendants
transmtted via the nail and wire, including the persons to whom
they were directed and the dates on which they were sent and/or
transmtted. Thus, as these excerpts nmake clear, the plaintiffs
have all eged RICO predicate acts with sufficient particularity to
survive a Rule 12(b)(6) notion. W therefore deny Myving
Def endants’ notions to dismss Plaintiffs’ claimunder Section
1962(c).

We reach the sane conclusion as to the 81962(d) claim
| ndeed, reading the conplaint as a whol e and | ooki ng at
paragraphs 131-139 and 199-200 in particular, we find that the
plaintiffs have alleged an outline of the defendants’ agreenent
to commt the predicate acts of fraud and their awareness that
those acts were part of an overall pattern of racketeering
activity. As paragraph 131 for exanple avers: “[o]n information

and belief, the Defendants (along with Jenkens) conspired to
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devi se and pronote the COBRA strategy for the purpose of
receiving and splitting mllions of dollars in fees...The receipt
of those fees was the primary, if not sole, notive in the

devel opment and execution of the transaction...|ndeed, Defendants
devi sed the transaction and agreed to provide a veneer of
legitimacy to each other’s opinion as to the | awful ness and tax
consequences of the COBRA strategy by agreeing to the
representations that would be made and to issue the allegedly

“i ndependent” opinions before potential clients were
solicited...” We therefore deny the noving defendants’ notion
to dismss Plaintiffs’ claimunder Section 1962(d).

B. Plaintiffs’ Fraud and Negligent M srepresentation C ains

Movants al so seek the dismssal of the plaintiffs clains
under state law for, inter alia, fraud and negli gent
m srepresentation.

To state a claimfor fraud which satisfies the exacting
standard of Fed. R CGv.P. 9(b), the plaintiff nust “plead (1) a
specific false representation of material fact, (2) know edge by
the person who made it of its falsity, (3) ignorance of its
falsity by the person to whomit was nmade, (4) the intention that
it should be acted upon, and (5) that the plaintiff acted upon it

to his damage.” U.S. ex. Rel. Atkinson v. Pennsylvania

Shi pbui I ding Co., 255 F. Supp.2d 351, 407 (E.D.Pa. 2002), quoting

Shapiro v. UIB Financial Corp., 964 F.2d 272, 284 (3d Gr. 1992).
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See Also, Brickman Goup Ltd. v. CAJ I nsurance Co., No. 754 EDA

2004, 2004 Pa. Super. LEXI'S 4936, *28 (Dec. 29, 2004)(“The
essential elenents of a cause of action for fraud or deceit are a
m srepresentation, a fraudulent utterance thereof, an intention
to induce action thereby, justifiable reliance thereon and damage
as a proximal result.”)

A cause of action for fraudulent m srepresentation is
simlarly conprised of the following elenents: “(1) a
m srepresentation, (2) a fraudulent utterance thereof, (3) an
intention by the nmaker that the recipient will thereby be induced
to act, (4) justifiable reliance by the recipient upon the
m srepresentation, and (5) damage to the recipient as the

proximate result.” Mrtin v. Lancaster Battery Co., 530 Pa. 11

18, 606 A. 2d 444, 448 (1992), quoting Scaife Co. V. Rockwell -

Standard Corp., 446 Pa. 280, 285, 285 A 2d 451, 454 (1971), cert
deni ed, 407 U.S. 920, 92 S.C. 2459, 32 L.Ed.2d 806 (1972).

By way of their notions, Myving Defendants argue that
Plaintiffs have also failed to allege sufficiently specific facts
to plead fraud or negligent m srepresentation. Readi ng t he
conpl aint as a whol e and paragraphs 231-248 in particular, we
find that the gravanen of plaintiffs’ avernents is (1) that the
def endants, including the novants here, acting in concert,
knowi ngly and specifically m srepresented to the plaintiffs that,

inter alia, the COBRA tax strategy was a |l egal tax shelter and/or
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use of a tax code “I|oophol e” which had been independently
reviewed by the Jenkens law firmand by the various accountant
defendants and found to be legal; (2) that Defendants made these
m srepresentations wth the purpose of inducing the plaintiffs to
engage in the strategy and thereby generate fees of between 5 ¥%%
and 9 26 of the tax savings being sought, (3) that the plaintiffs
justifiably relied upon these m srepresentations (given the
defendants’ reputations and the rel ationships which plaintiffs
had shared with them) and engaged in the tax strategy (4) with
the result that they suffered extrene financial damages by having
to pay back taxes, penalties and interest when the I RS disall owed
the | osses which the plaintiffs had taken on their returns.

These avernents are, we find, nore than sufficient to put the

def endants on notice of what conduct they are charged w th having
commtted and to satisfy the particularity requirenents of both
Federal and Pennsylvania |law. Accordingly, Plaintiffs’ seventh
and ei ghth causes of action shall be allowed to stand.

C. Plaintiffs' Breach of Contract and Prof essi onal
Negl i gence C ai ns

Movants here al so seek the dism ssal of the plaintiffs’
clainms for breach of contract and professional negligence for
failure to plead any facts which could support a finding that
they negligently performed the services for which they were hired
and because the conplaint fails to indicate whether the alleged

contract between themand the Heller plaintiffs is oral or
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witten. Defendants also assert that the breach of contract
cl ai m shoul d be dism ssed as a “m sl abel ed negligence cl aint
because it is not based on a breach by novant of any specific
provi sion of the contract between them

CGenerally speaking, to sustain a claimfor breach of
contract, a plaintiff nust allege: (1) the existence of a
contract, (2) including its essential terns, (3) a breach of a
duty inposed by the contract and (4) resultant danage.

Pittsburgh Construction Co. v. Giffith, 834 A 2d 572, 580

(Pa. Super. 2003); Corestates Bank, N.A v. Cutillo, 723 A 2d

1053, 1058 (Pa. Super. 1999). Contracts for professional, |egal
and accounting services contain, as an inplied termof the
contract, a prom se by the attorney or accountant to render | egal

services in accordance with the profession at large. See, Bailey

v. Tucker, 533 Pa. 237, 621 A 2d 108, 115 (1993); CGorski V.
Smith, 2002 Pa. Super. 334, 812 A. 2d 683, 694 (2002); Koken v.
St ei nberg, 825 A 2d 723, 730 (Pa. CmMth. 2003). Thus, a breach
of contract claimmay properly be prem sed on a professional’s
failure to fulfill his or her contractual duty to provide the
agreed upon |l egal services in a manner consistent with the
profession at large. Gorski, 812 A 2d at 694.

Furt hernore, under Pennsylvania | aw, professional negligence
actions can be maintai ned only agai nst defendants who are

i censed professionals such as (1) health care providers as
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defined by Section 503 of the Medical Care Availability and
Reduction of Error (MCARE) Act, 40 P.S. 81303.503; (2)
accountants; (3) architects; (4) chiropractors; (5) dentists; (6)
engi neers or |and surveyors; (7) nurses; (8) optonetrists; (9)
phar maci sts; (10) physical therapists; (11) psychologists; (12)

veterinarians; or (13) attorneys. G lnmour v. Bohnueller, Gv.

A. No. 04-2535, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1611 (E. D. Pa. Jan. 27,
2005); Pa.R C.P. 1042.1. In order to establish a claimfor

mal practice, a plaintiff/aggrieved client nust denonstrate three
basic el enents: (1) enploynment of the professional or other basis
for a duty; (2) the failure of the professional to exercise
ordinary skill and know edge; and (3) that such failure was the

proxi mate cause of damage to the plaintiff. Kituskie v. Corbman

552 Pa. 275, 281, 714 A 2d 1027, 1029 (1998); Rizzo v. Haines,

520 Pa. 484, 499, 555 A . 2d 58, 65 (1989).

In this case, the plaintiffs allege that defendants O ndorf
and Beard MIller were the longtine accountants for the Heller
plaintiffs and that in response to the Heller plaintiffs request
for tax planning advice, the Heller plaintiffs and the Beard
Ml ler defendants effectively entered into a contract for
prof essionally conpetent accounting advice. Thereafter, these
def endants introduced plaintiffs to the COBRA strategy by
referring themto Defendants Dudzi nsky, BDO Sei dman and

representatives of Jenkens & Gl christ and the Deutsche Bank
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defendants and that O ndorf participated in severa

tel econference calls between the Hellers and these other parties.
In so doing, the conplaint alleges that Orndorf and Beard M|l er
di sregarded their obligations to neet all applicable standards of
care and to conply with all applicable rules of professional
conduct and instead provided plaintiffs with advice, opinions,
recommendati ons, representations and instructions that they

ei ther knew or reasonably should have known to be wrong thereby
breaching their contract with plaintiffs and commtting

mal practi ce. These avernents are, we find, nore than adequate
to plead clains for contractual breach and professional

mal practice and we therefore deny the notion to dism ss these

cl ai ns agai nst Movi ng Def endants.

D. Plaintiffs’ daimfor Breach of Fiduciary Duty

The Beard M Il er defendants al so seek di sm ssal of
plaintiffs’ sixth claimfor breach of fiduciary duty.

Cenerally speaking, a fiduciary relationship arises under
Pennsyl vani a | aw where “one person has reposed a speci al
confidence in another to the extent that the parties do not deal
with each other on equal terns, either because of an
overmast eri ng dom nance on one side, or weakness, dependence or

justifiable trust on the other. Becker v. Chicago Title

| nsurance Co., Cv. A No. 02-2292, 2004 U S. Dist. LEXIS 1988 at

*22 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 4, 2002), quoting L & M Beverage Co. v. Quiness
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| nport Co., 1995 U. S. Dist. LEXIS 19443 at *13-14 (E.D. Pa. Dec.

29, 1995). See Also, Etoll, Inc. v. Elias/Savion Advertising,

Inc., 2002 Pa. Super. 347, 811 A 2d 10, 22 (Pa. Super. 2002).
Thus, those who give advice in business may engender confidenti al
relations if others, by virtue of their own weakness or
inability, the advisor’s pretense or expertise, or a conbination
of both, invest such a |level of trust that they seek no other

counsel. Basile v. H& R Block, 2001 Pa. Super. 136, 777 A 2d

95, 102 (Pa. Super. 2001). In Pennsylvania, a claimfor breach
of fiduciary duty nust allege that: (1) the defendant acted
negligently or intentionally failed to act in good faith and
solely for the benefit of plaintiff in all matters for which he
or she was enployed; (2) the plaintiff suffered injury; and (3)
the defendant’s failure to act solely for the plaintiff’s benefit
was a real factor in bringing about plaintiff’s injuries.
Glnmour, 2005 U.S. Dist. LEXIS at *30.

In reviewng the plaintiffs’ conplaint, we note that it
all eges that M. Orndorf and Beard M Il er occupied a position of
trust in relation to the Heller plaintiffs by virtue of their
having | ong been the Hellers’ accountants and that the Heller
plaintiffs had placed their confidence in these defendants to
advi se them appropriately and to act in their best interests.
The conpl aint further avers that the noving defendants either

intentionally or negligently disregarded this relationship when
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they failed to act in good faith and advised Plaintiffs to enter
into the COBRA transactions, that as a result of the defendants’
counsel and advice the plaintiffs did engage in the COBRA
transactions with the result that they suffered serious financial
harm by having to pay, inter alia, back taxes and significant
penalties and interest to the IRS. As we find these allegations
are sufficient to state a cause of action against the novants
here for breach of fiduciary duty, the notion to dismss this
claimis denied.

E. Plaintiffs’ Gvil Conspiracy Caim

Movants al so ask that the plaintiffs’ claimfor civil
conspiracy be dismssed. For the follow ng reasons, this request
too, shall be denied.

Civil conspiracy is the agreenent of two or nore entities or
i ndi vidual s to engage in an unlawful act, or an otherw se | awful
act by unl awful neans when sone overt act is taken in furtherance
of the conspiracy and sone actual |egal harm accrues to the

plaintiff. Doltz v. Harris & Associates, 280 F. Supp.2d 377, 389

(E.D.Pa. 2003). To prove a civil conspiracy under Pennsylvani a
law, a plaintiff nmust show (1) a conbination of two or nore
persons acting with a common purpose to do an unlawful act or to
do a lawful act by unlawful nmeans or for an unlawful purpose, (2)
an overt act done in pursuit of the comon purpose and (3) actual

| egal damage. 1d. See Also, Flynn v. Health Advocate, Inc.,
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Cv. A No. 03-3764, 2004 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 293 at *17 (E.D. Pa.
Jan. 13, 2004).

In reading the conplaint in this matter as a whole, we find
that it nore than anply states a cause of action for civil
conspi racy agai nst the noving defendants here in that novants are
all eged to have acted in concert with all of the other defendants
and attorneys and representatives fromJenkens & Glchrist to
persuade their clients (the Heller plaintiffs) to engage in an
illegal tax strategy. The conplaint further alleges that in
pursuit of this goal, Defendants Orndorf and Beard M| ler, inter
alia, participated in phone conferences with plaintiffs and the
ot her defendants and advised the plaintiffs that the strategy was
lawful with the result that the plaintiffs were damaged by havi ng
to pay back taxes, interest and penalties to the IRS. Thus, the
motion to dismss the civil conspiracy claimis al so denied.

F. Plaintiffs’ Declaratory Judgnent C aim

Finally, Mvants assert that the plaintiffs’ claimfor
decl aratory judgnent should be dism ssed on the grounds that the
relief which it seeks is nerely duplicative of the relief sought
under the other counts of the conplaint. However, the only
casel aw whi ch defendants cite in support of this argunent is from
the seventh circuit and provides that dism ssal on this basis is

discretionary with the court. See, Yellow Cab Co. V. Gty of

Chi cago, 186 F.2d 946, 950-951 (7' Cir. 1951); Raynman v. Peoples

28



Savings Corp., 735 F.Supp. 842, 851-853 (N.D.111. 1993). G ven

t hat our independent research reveals no such authority fromthe
Third Crcuit and even accepting this Seventh GCrcuit authority,
we decline to exercise our discretion in favor of dismssal on
these grounds in |ight of the undevel oped state of the record in
this case. Accordingly, the declaratory judgnent claim shal

i kewi se be permtted to stand.

An order foll ows.
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IN THE UNI TED STATES DI STRI CT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DI STRI CT OF PENNSYLVAN A

TODD HELLER, SUSAN HELLER, : ClVIL ACTI ON
TH SM TH LANE | NVESTMENTS, | NC.

TH PARTNERS, TODD HELLER, INC.

ABRAHAM BERNSTEI' N, DI ANNE G . NO 04-Cv-3571
BERNSTEI N, AB RI TTENHOUSE :

| NVESTMENTS LLC, RI TTENHOUSE )

SQUARE PARTNERS, ABD RI TTENHOUSE :

| NVESTMENTS, | NC., JAMES F. )

NASUTI, CELESTE NASUTI, JEN

W LLI AMSON | NVESTMENTS LLC,

W LLI AMSON PARTNERS, and JFN

W LLI AMSON | NVESTORS, | NC.

VS.
DEUTSCHE BANK AG DEUTSCHE BANK :
SECURITIES, INC., D/ B/ A DEUTSCHE :
BANK ALEX BROWN, A DI VI SI ON OF )
DEUTSCHE BANK SECURI TI ES, | NC.,
DAVI D PARSE, BDO SEI DVAN, L. L. P.
ROBERT DUDZI NSKY, ELLIOIT P. :
FOOTER, BEARD M LLER COVPANY, LLP:
STEVEN D. ORNDORF, W LKI NSON AND :

TANDY LLC, RALPH E. LOVEJOY and
KPM5, LLP

ORDER

AND NOW this 3rd day of March, 2005, upon
consi deration of the Mtion of Defendants Steven D. Orndorf and
Beard M Il er Conpany, LLP to Dismiss Plaintiffs Conplaint and
Plaintiffs’ Response thereto, it is hereby ORDERED that the
Motion is GRANTED I N PART and DENIED I N PART and Plaintiffs’
Third Caimfor Violating and Seeking to and Aiding and Abetting
a Schene to Violate 18 U. S. C. 81962(c) is DI SM SSED wi th

prej udi ce.



In all other respects the Mdtion is DEN ED

BY THE COURT:

s/J. Curtis Joyner

J. CURTI S JOYNER,



